
Budget Recommendation Committee 11/04/15 Page 1 
 

Draft Minutes 

Exeter Budget Recommendation Committee 

November 4, 2015 

 

Call Meeting to Order 

Chairman Corey Stevens called the meeting to order at 6:40 pm in the Nowak Room of 
the Exeter Town Offices building.  Other members present were Peter Lennon, Allan Corey, Bill 
Campbell, John Gilbert, Frank Ferraro, Don Woodward, Anthony Zwaan, and Judy Rowan.  Also 
present was Town Manager Russ Dean, Selectwoman Julie Gilman, Selectwoman Nancy 
Belanger, Selectman Dan Chartrand, Selectman Don Clement, Finance Director Doreen Ravell, 
DPW Director Jennifer Perry and Maintenance Superintendent Kevin Smart.        

 

Department of Public Works - General 

Vice Chair Bill Campbell thanked DPW on behalf of the subcommittee for all their 
cooperation.  He said there are not many lines the subcommittee felt needed to be cut.  The six 
areas of concern for them were the EPA Stormwater Phase II, the three increases in the Snow 
Removal budget, the Part/Time help, and the increase of a Part-Time employee to Full-Time in 
the garage, the Maintenance Projects, and the CIP items.   

Ms. Perry said a couple of big items are regulatory related (the EPA item in particular).  
Exeter has been an MS4 community since 2002.  She said the increase from Part-Time to Full-
Time for a mechanic in the garage would enable them to do more specialty work.  She said they 
have recommended this for a couple years now.   

Chair Stevens said there are a number of items that are large and need to be talked 
about.   

First, regarding the EPA permit, Chair Stevens asked if it would be launched in the 
spring.  Ms. Perry said there is a $102,000 increase for the Stormwater Phase II.  She said there 
are several things the town still needs to complete per the permit.  The new permit will require 
more aggressive water quality monitoring.  They will need a lot of consulting assistance for this 
monitoring/testing.  Mr. Ferraro suggested delaying the cost of the first round of sampling until 
they have the development plans done.  He said the sampling will be expensive.  He said they 
should spend this year doing the plans and put the first round of sampling until 2017.  Ms. Perry 
said they do have to conduct some monitoring each year and the permit does not run a 
calendar year.  Mr. Gilbert asked how specific the compliance schedule is with this permit.  Ms. 



Budget Recommendation Committee 11/04/15 Page 2 
 

Perry said it is applicable to all MS4 communities in NH.  They have to complete the stormwater 
plan within the first six months.  Ms. Corey said at some point next year they will need to do 
additional sampling.  He asked how long the contracts for work are for.  Mr. Ferraro said it is 
not necessarily true that they will have to do additional sampling.  Ms. Perry said how they 
decide to construct a contract is up to the town.  She said they might look into multiple years.  
The work doesn’t all have to be done in calendar year 2016.  Mr. Corey asked when they get the 
permit, when do they need to do additional sampling.  Ms. Perry said it has to be completed 
within one year, plus 90 days.  She said say the permit comes out April 1, 2016.  It becomes 
effective 90 days later, then they have a year, so July 2017.   

Mr. Lennon said he still hasn’t heard specifically what tasks have to be done by when 
and how much they will cost.  He said they can show good faith to the EPA without throwing 
them all that money.  Vice Chair Campbell said they have to plan on the permit being issued 
next spring.  Ms. Perry said there will be more than one contract.  EPA is very specific on what 
they are requiring.  The times are based around the effective date of the regulation.  They do 
not know the exact date, but April-June is the targeted date.   

Mr. Woodward asked if DPW has an Asset Management Plan.  Ms. Perry said they don’t 
have a true Plan, but they do have a mapping.  They do catch basin cleaning, but pipeline 
cleaning has not been that extensive.  They have identified areas that need more cleaning.   

Mr. Lennon asked about the idea of a second year worth of work.  Ms. Perry said the 
$40,000 for 2016 & 2017 that has been identified is part of the first permit and they really need 
to get things done.  She said they don’t need to phase it to complete the other element.  They 
need to work concurrently.  Mr. Lennon asked if Phase I is independent of Phase II.  Ms. Perry 
said EPA is not going to tell them exactly how to get this done.  They are going to need to start 
Phase II implementation soon.  Vice Chair Campbell said if they get the permit April 1, will they 
do sampling in the fall.  Ms. Perry said as long as they have enough storms.   

Mr. Gilbert warned if they try to cut lines too fine, there are consequences.  He said it is 
wiser to allocate conservatively early on for this.   

Selectman Clement said MS4 is about water quality.  He said they have to come up with 
plans as they have to improve the quality of the water.  A cost for this is going to be incurred.  
They need to comply with the EPA.   

Mr. Ferraro said everybody understands they need to do this work.  He said EPA is not 
going to take action against the town if they miss a sampling event.   

Ms. Rowan asked what the subcommittee priorities are.  Vice Chair Campbell said the 
subcommittee thought the DPW had done well with the budget.  They thought this line was an 
important one to have.  Mr. Ferraro suggested maybe putting this on the table and moving 
forward.  Ms. Perry said if they discover any contamination in storm water, they have a limited 
amount of time to address it and they do not have money set aside for that.   



Budget Recommendation Committee 11/04/15 Page 3 
 

Motion:  A Motion was made by Mr. Ferraro and seconded by Mr. Woodward to 
approve $95,000 for line item 601-5446.  Motion carried – majority vote.   

 Vice Chair Campbell said the next item to be reduced is line 602-4230, Vehicle 
Maintenance.    

 Motion:  A Motion was made by Mr. Ferraro and seconded by Mr. Woodward to change 
line 602-4230 from $50,000 to $45,000, a reduction of $5,000.  Motion withdrawn, as this 
would come up in Highways and Streets.    

 Ms. Ravell said the updated Health Insurance line 601-2100 is $62,541.  The updated 
dental is $6,392.  The new benefits total is $144,806.  The new general expense total is 
$118,101.  The new Administration and Engineering total is $441,269.           

 Highways and Streets 

Vice Chair Campbell said they would next talk about Highways and Streets.  Ms. Ravell 
said the Health Insurance number is $195,213 and the new benefits total is $317,221.   

 Motion:  A Motion was made by Mr. Ferraro and seconded by Mr. Woodward to change 
line 0602-4230 to $45,000.  Motion carried – all in favor.   

 Vice Chair Campbell said the subcommittee had no other line item reductions.   

 Mr. Lennon had questioned line 602-4344, Storm Drain Repair.  Ms. Ravell said the YTD 
on this line is $2,980,84 with no encumbrances.  Mr. Lennon asked about line 602-4345, Bridge 
Repairs.  Ms. Ravell said the YTD is $731.53 with $4500 encumbered.  Next, Mr. Lennon asked 
about line 602-4420, Equipment Rentals.  Ms. Ravell said the YTD is $2,617.  Mr. Lennon asked 
about the fuel line, asking if the fuel price was used to base last years $30,000.  Ms. Perry said it 
has been revised, using $2.09.   

Mr. Lennon asked about line 602-7507, asking what the YTD is.  Ms. Ravell said the YTD 
is $0.  Mr. Lennon asked why they haven’t used the $25,000.  Ms. Perry said they have been 
trying to schedule the storm drain cleaning and have every intention of getting this done this 
fall.  Mr. Lennon asked if there is a firm agreement with a contractor.  Ms. Perry said they do 
have the work planned for this fall.  She said they have 13,000 catch basins and they do half of 
them each year.   

Chair Stevens asked about line 602-7503, Road Paving/Maintenance, asking if the 2015 
budget will be spent.  Ms. Perry said this is very close to expended.  Mr. Ferraro said the 
Portsmouth Ave. project the paving was going to match the project from High Street to a bridge 
by the Water Treatment Plant.  However, the town went further and repaired more.  He asked 
if that was on the 2016 paving schedule.  Ms. Perry said it was on the 2015 paving schedule to 
do Portsmouth Ave.  Mr. Lennon asked for an updated paving expended number.  Ms. Ravell 



Budget Recommendation Committee 11/04/15 Page 4 
 

said paving is at $603,227 with $2,981 encumbered.  She said if they are doing paving work this 
week then it would not be reflected in these numbers.  She said the new updated bottom 
number for Highway and Streets is $1,939,475.   

Snow Removal 

Vice Chair Campbell said they would  next discuss snow removal.  He said the 
subcommittee went with the request of the DPW.  The number was based on a three year 
average for lines 4220 and 4221.  He said they propose some number be put in to refund the 
reserve.  He asked how they would do that.  Mr. Dean said they have been setting aside 
$50,000/year.  He said the money has to go into the reserves per town meeting.  Mr. Dean said 
the Snow/Ice budget was overspent by $169,000 and the only way to make that up is to take it 
from other parts of the budget.   

Mr. Johnson said what happens if things are not average.  Mr. Dean said that is hard to 
predict.   

Motion:  A Motion was made by Mr. Ferraro and seconded by Mr. Woodward to change 
line 603-4220 to $35,000 and line 603-4221 to $65,000.  Motion carried – all in favor.   

Ms. Ravell said the updated snow total is $293,764.   

Solid Waste Disposal 

Vice Chair Campbell said line 0604-1200 is increased because DPW wants to increase 
hours by 32 hours to allow for the Transfer Station to be open more and for downtown trash 
pickup.  Ms. Perry said the Transfer Station is only open part-time.  Saturdays there are 
extremely busy.  The DPW would propose the Station is open Sundays too.  Chair Stevens asked 
if the same person would do the extra trash pickup and the extra Transfer Station hours.  Ms. 
Perry said yes, but they are thinking it could also be split up.  Chair Stevens said it seemed the 
consensus is to have the extra downtown trash pickup, but the extra Transfer Hours were 
questionable.  Vice Chair Campbell said the thinks they are both valuable.   

Mr. Dean said as they go forward this year, they will be looking at the Solid Waste fees, 
as that hasn’t been looked at for 2-3 years.   

Mr. Zwaan asked if there is a documented need for additional hours at the Transfer 
Station.  He also said he does like the idea of additional downtown trash pickup.  Chair Stevens 
asked if they had to choose one, which one would be more valuable.  Mr. Zwaan said he 
doesn’t see the need for additional Transfer Station hours.  Ms. Perry said Saturdays are very 
busy and there would be usage on Sundays.  She said there is a need for the additional 
downtown trash pickup.  Other than fall Sundays, the Transfer Station is not open Sundays.  Mr. 
Ferraro said he has asked around and it seems people have not had a problem with the Station 
only being open on Saturdays.  He agreed with Mr. Zwaan, saying downtown would want to 



Budget Recommendation Committee 11/04/15 Page 5 
 

keep bins from overflowing on weekends.  Ms. Hall suggested they look at the use of Station 
and see when it is needed.  Vice Chair Campbell said the increase of hours in the Transfer 
Station would be another 5.5 hours, as the Station is already open for 14 hours/week.  The 
downtown pickup would be an additional 12.5 hours/week.  Ms. Perry said it totals to about 
$4000/year.   

Chair Stevens said if the Board proposes no changes, they would move on.  Vice Chair 
Campbell said there is nothing else to discuss in Solid Waste.  

Street Lights 

Ms. Ravell said the YTD for line 605-4369 is $2,945.  The YTD for line 605-6220 is 
$115,716.  Vice Chair Campbell said street lights the town gets billed for.  Ms. Perry said yes, 
they are physically owned by Unitil.  Chair Stevens asked why there is a $20,000 increase in 
Street Lights.  Ms. Perry said there is still billing this year that has not been documented.   

Mr. Zwaan asked if Unitil metered street lights.  Ms. Perry said there are cost meters for 
street lights.  Mr. Zwaan asked if there is any leverage for lowering the cost of lighting.  Ms. 
Perry said they have tried to work with Unitil to replace lights with LED lights and it has been 
successful.  They are looking at alternatives for getting lower lighting costs.  Mr. Zwaan asked if 
they are locked in for any amount of time.  Ms. Perry said they are not locked in contractually, 
but Unitil does own the street lights.   

Public Works – Maintenance 

Vice Chair Campbell said the subcommittee proposed two changes in maintenance.  The 
first is decreasing Safety Equipment line 606-5610 by $500, and the second is decreasing 
Education Training line 606-5830 by $200.   

Ms. Ravell said the updated Health Insurance line 606-2100 is $69,446 and the new 
benefits total is $125,688.   

Motion:  A Motion was made by Vice Chair Campbell and seconded by Mr. Ferraro that 
line 606-5610 be reduced to $2000.  Motion carried – all in favor.  

Motion:  A Motion was made by Vice Chair Campbell and seconded by Mr. Ferraro that 
line 606-5830 be reduced to $1800.  Motion carried – all in favor.   

Ms. Ravell said the new general expense total is $33,600 and the new General 
Maintenance total is $447,004.   

 

 



Budget Recommendation Committee 11/04/15 Page 6 
 

Mechanics/Garage 

Vice Chair Campbell said in regards to line 615-1110, the subcommittee supports 
moving a Part-Time mechanic to Full-Time.  The reasons they feel this is a good decision is 
because having another set of hands Full-Time is safer, it will allow for more work to get done, 
and because it is hard to keep a good Part-Time employee in the garage.   

Ms. Perry said currently they have a Part-Time 29 hours/week mechanics laborer, who is 
not a certified mechanic.  She said it has been tough to keep the position filled.  Moving the 
Part-Time person to Full-Time would allow for more work to be done, so it is a safety issue.  
This position will get certified in fire apparatus mechanical work.  If the garage has a third Full-
Time person, they will do better at quick turnarounds.   

Mr. Ferraro suggested an alternative proposal.  If they move the Part-Time employee to 
Full-Time they will gain 11 hours.  However, if they kept the Part-Time employee and hired 
another Part-Time employee, they would gain 29 hours worth of work.  He said the cost would 
be about the same as the town would not have to pay for benefits for a Full-Time employee.  
Then the garage would gain 29 hours of work, not 11.  Ms. Perry said the challenge they are 
having is filling the position for a Part-Time employee.  She said they spend a lot of time 
recruiting.  An employee will start the position, but once they are trained they go elsewhere 
where they can find Full-Time hours.  Mr. Ferraro said moving a person from Part-Time to Full-
Time is an accelerated long-term cost.  Mr. Gilbert said there are still costs with training and 
recruiting, which they looked at as well.   

Chair Stevens said he is most concerned with the safety aspect.  Ms. Perry said some lift 
work has to be postponed until another mechanic comes in, as it requires two people.   

Mr. Corey said the Senior Mechanic has five weeks of vacation, so sometimes they will 
not have a full house.  That will contribute to a shortage of manpower.   

Chair Stevens said he inclined to go with the recommendation of the subcommittee.   

Ms. Ravell said the new Health Insurance total is $41,970.  The new Retirement total is 
$15,150 and the new total benefits is $72,740.  The new Mechanics/Garage total is $239,414. 

Town Buildings 

Vice Chair Campbell said they should have a discussion about lines 6xx-6210 and 6xx-
6220.  Chair Stevens said they should first look at costs.  Ms. Perry said when calculating Natural 
Gas and Electricity costs they look at YTD expenditures and look at the last months of the prior 
year and also the forecasts for the rates.   

Chair Stevens said the federal level projections were forwarded to the Board.  Mr. 
Lennon said the study came up with the prediction that we will have 13% warmer days this 



Budget Recommendation Committee 11/04/15 Page 7 
 

winter.  Based on the combination of reduced production and the price there will be a -6% 
decrease in electricity bills in the Northeast and a -6% decrease in natural gas expenditures and 
a -15% decrease in propane expenditures.  So, he said they should take a look at the projected 
increases in those lines for this budget.  He said they should seriously consider taking down the 
numbers.  He said he would feel comfortable coming in at FY15’s budget numbers for these 
lines.  He said they might actually want to cut them further.  He suggested they cut all budget 
electricity numbers to what the 2015 numbers were.   

Mr. Gilbert asked if they are in any contractual obligations around natural gas and 
electricity and if so, how do the rates flow.  Ms. Perry said they are in a fixed rate contract for 
electrical usage with Constellation, but they are always willing to negotiate.  She said they are in 
the process of talking with them to add more accounts.  Constellation is willing  to look at the 
contract differently, so they may be able to see some savings.   

Mr. Dean said as much as the federal government does studies, they should be careful 
here.  The town has several buildings that are used a lot (nighttime use too).  The more the 
doors are open, the more electricity will be used.   

Mr. Dean said Liberty Electric has put out rates with decreased numbers.  He is 
concerned with the percentage increases over last year, especially natural gas.   

Mr. Dean said in regards to electricity, in October they had the new price of $10.82, so 
they had the lower rate the prior 9 months.   

Chair Stevens said he did some calculations, and suggested coming in at $75,000 for 
natural gas and $122,200 for electricity.   

Mr. Ferraro said he can’t see an 18% increase over last year’s budget for natural gas.  
Chair Stevens said he wants to keep the electricity number and lower natural gas.   

Ms. Perry said brokers and utility companies are going to charge what the market bears.  
Prices are competitive.  The town does not set the terms for pricing.   

Mr. Gilbert asked why there is such a large gap for this year’s budget.  Ms. Perry said the 
rates were changed and winter rates are always a bit higher.  She also commented that in 
Public Works, they always try to identify opportunities to save money.  Mr. Dean said any Unitil 
transmission charge increase could be driving this too.   

Mr. Lennon asked how the Board can justify a percentage increase when it is unlikely 
the citizens are going to face these increases on their own.   

Motion:  A Motion was made by Vice Chair Campbell and seconded by Ms. Hall to 
change line 6xx-6210, Natural Gas, to $75,000.  Motion carried –all in favor.   



Budget Recommendation Committee 11/04/15 Page 8 
 

Motion:  A Motion was made by Vice Chair Campbell and seconded by Mr. Gilbert to 
change line 6xx-6220, Electricity, to $120,000.  Mr. Ferraro said he still uncomfortable with that 
number.  He said that is saying the budget last year they missed by 1/3 when they had a 
contract.  Mr. Lennon asked how they can justify a 35% increase in the rates.  Vice Chair 
Campbell said he is justifying it by what has been spent this year.  Mr. Gilbert said there are 
multiple elements to electricity.  Some can go up and down and some numbers are locked in.  
He said they are less able to forecast how electricity might play out because of the variables 
involved.  The Board voted on the Motion.  Motion carried with a 7-2 vote.   

Ms. Ravell said the new Buildings total is $271,800.   

 

Mr. Lennon asked for if the updated YTD for line 605-6220, Street Lights Electricity, is 
$115,706.  Chair Stevens said yes.  Mr. Lennon suggested taking it down by $10,000 and giving 
them $135,000.   

Motion:  A Motion was made by Mr. Lennon and seconded by Mr. Ferraro to change 
line 605-6220 to $135,000.  Mr. Ferraro said the only way to cut the budgeted number is to 
shut off the street lights.  He said there is a lot more opportunities to cut electricity in other 
town buildings.  Motion fails – majority vote.   

Maintenance Projects 

Chair Stevens suggested getting through Projects and continuing CIPs on another night.   

Vice Chair Campbell said the subcommittee went along with the Department’s request 
in Maintenance Projects of $125,000.  Ms. Ravell said the YTD is $86,725 with $77,232 
encumbered.   

Motion:  A Motion was made by Mr. Ferraro and seconded by Mr. Lennon to approve 
$100,000 for the Maintenance Projects line.  Mr. Ferraro said the $125,000 is a 25% increase.  
Mr. Corey asked if the 25% decrease will lead to any problems.  Mr. Smart said one project that 
will not get done if there is a decrease is the Parks & Rec building exterior painting.  Mr. Ferraro 
said there are projects that will not get done anyways.  The Board voted on the Motion.  
Motion carried – majority vote.   

Ms. Ravell said the new Buildings/Maintenance total is $371,800.  The updated total 
DPW Maintenance is $1,058,218.  The new Publics Works total is $4,736,950.   

Motion:  A Motion was made by Vice Chair Campbell and seconded by Mr. Woodward 
to approve the Publics Works total of $4,736,950.  Motion carried – all in favor.  

Chair Stevens said he appreciated all the work DPW has done for this budget.   



Budget Recommendation Committee 11/04/15 Page 9 
 

Mr. Ferraro asked for an updated General Fund figure without warrant articles.  Ms. 
Ravell said the new number is $17,613,944.   

Chair Stevens said the next meeting will be Thursday, November 12.   

Mr. Dean said that figure comes in at a 2.25% before warrants.  

Chair Stevens said they are meeting November 18 for Water/Sewer and they will finish 
CIP’s then.   

 Motion:  A Motion was made by Mr. Lennon and seconded by Vice Chair Campbell to 
adjourn the meeting at 10:42pm.  Motion carried – all in favor.                

          

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

Nicole Piper, Recording Secretary  

 

  

 


